047

CASE NO. 80,217

FILED

AUG 26 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

PRUDENTIAL PROPERTY AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

recreasing,

vs.

:

LARRY S. SWINDAL, ET AL.

Respondent

ON REVIEW FROM A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

RAYMOND T. ELLIGETT, JR., ESQ. Florida Bar No. 261939 CHARLES P. SCHROPP, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 206881 SCHROPP, BUELL & ELLIGETT, P.A. NCNB Plaza, Suite 2600 400 North Ashley Drive Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 221-0117 Counsel for Prudential

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Prudential Property and Casualty Insurance Company, is referred to as "Prudential."

Respondent, Larry Swindal, is referred to as "Swindal."

Nicholas Castellano, (Prudential's insured) is referred to as

"Castellano." The Second District's opinion incorrectly referred

to Castellano as an appellant, but Castellano was not named as an

appellant in the notice of appeal (R 291; see Fla. R. App. P.

9.020(f)).

References to the record on appeal are designated by the prefix "R", except that references to Castellano's previous trial testimony are designated by the prefix "Castellano Tr."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Second District's opinion accurately sets forth the facts of Castellano's shooting of Swindal, but attributes some holdings to the trial court which it did not make in its summary judgment.

Swindal v. Prudential Property and Casualty Insurance Company, 599

So.2d 1314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), (hereinafter "Swindal").

As <u>Swindal</u> noted, the facts come largely from the shooter, Castellano, because he rendered Swindal incapable of testifying (see footnote 3 at p. 1316).

According to Castellano, it was Swindal's abusive behavior which prompted Castellano to take action. Castellano was married to Swindal's ex-wife, and testified that Swindal had been harassing him and threatening him with a shotgun (Castellano Tr. 6, 26; R 200).

Castellano had to go to his closet to get his gun (R 209). He had to remove the gun from its case (R 209). Castellano did not have to check if it was loaded because he knew it was loaded (R 209-10). During the period between when he took the loaded gun from the closet and the time he chased down Swindal, Castellano removed the safety on the gun (R 211).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Perhaps this is the reason the jury did not convict Swindal in the criminal action. Passages in the brief may refer to Swindal as being the "victim" of Castellano's gunshot. This does not mean that Castellano was also not a victim of Swindal's repulsive harassment. While that perception may have aided Castellano in the criminal matter, it does not entitle him to insurance coverage, as discussed below.

Castellano pursued Swindal in a car chase, caught him and walked to Swindal's car (R 201). When Castellano thrust the loaded gun through the window of Swindal's car, Castellano had his finger on the trigger (R 206). Castellano grabbed Swindal's hammer, and as he pulled it, he also pulled the trigger of the gun he was holding, shooting Swindal (R 214-16).

Castellano testified in his deposition that the reason he took his gun to go after Swindal was "to frighten him the way he had frightened me many times." (R 210; at Castellano Tr. 46, he had testified that he wanted to threaten Swindal). Castellano continued:

"And I thought that maybe he deserved to be taught a lesson that time by frightening him a little bit, and see how he felt with a gun."

(R 210). <u>Swindal</u> acknowledged that Castellano's actions were an "undisputed intentional act," an "assault or assault with a deadly weapon." 599 So.2d at 1318. As discussed below, Castellano's grabbing Swindal's hammer was also a battery.

Shortly before the hearing on the motion for summary judgment in this cause, and long after his deposition in this matter, Castellano provided Swindal with an affidavit.<sup>2</sup> Castellano's

The <u>Swindal</u> court indicated it was unaware of the outcome of Swindal's tort action against Castellano. The panel overlooked an October 19, 1990 filing in the prior appeal indicating Castellano had given Swindal a consent judgment in the tort action. Castellano discharged his defense counsel provided by Prudential and agreed to entry of a judgment for several million dollars, with execution to be limited to insurance proceeds. Prudential believes

affidavit contradicted his earlier testimony, and asserted that he had no intention to frighten Swindal (R 283). Swindal's declination to discuss the affidavit indicates its rejection of this attempt to revise history.

Cynthia Fink Harwell also testified by deposition. She was residing with Castellano and his wife at the time of the shooting (R 141). Ms. Harwell did not see the shooting, but saw the events before and after. She saw Castellano retrieve the gun and remove the gun from its case (R 153). When Castellano returned he said that he had shot Swindal (R 156, 162-164, 168).

In a previous appeal the Second District reversed a dismissal of this declaratory action brought by Prudential against Castellano and Swindal. Prudential Property & Casualty Insurance Company v. Castellano, 571 So.2d 598 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). The opinion noted the trial court could consider Prudential's previously filed motion for summary judgment on remand. As <u>Swindal</u> noted, Prudential's policy contained an exclusion for bodily injury "which is expected or intended by the insured." 599 So.2d at 1316.

On remand the trial court granted Prudential's motion for summary judgment (R 289-90). The trial court observed that the undisputed facts and even the insured's (Castellano's) own testimony demonstrated Castellano's intent to harm Swindal in some manner (R 289). The trial court was "also troubled by the public

this is not important to this appeal, but would be if the summary judgment were not affirmed and the case returned to the trial court. Castellano's affidavit came after he had given Swindal the consent judgment.

policy ramifications of providing insurance coverage for insureds who engage in intentional, aggressive conduct which then results in injury to their victims" (R 290).

Swindal appealed and the Second District reversed the summary judgment. The Second District stated "The trial court concluded that the supreme court in <u>Landis</u> and <u>Marshall</u> expanded the intentional injury exclusion and empowered the trial judge to exclude coverage for damages that may 'inevitably flow' from an intentional act, even though the injuries are proximately caused by a separate negligent act." <u>Swindal</u>, at 1317. With all due respect, the trial court made no such statement in its summary judgment or anywhere else in the record (there was no transcript of the summary judgment hearing). The trial court did not even cite <u>Landis</u> or <u>Marshall</u>.

<u>Swindal</u> recognized that there would be no coverage in this case if the language in <u>Landis</u> were literally applied stating:

In <u>Landis</u>, the supreme court referred to harm that "inevitably flows" from an intentional act and stated that "specific intent to commit harm is not required by the intentional acts exclusion. Rather, all intentional acts are properly excluded by the express language of the homeowners policy." 546 So.2d at 1053. Thus, it is not unreasonable to conclude that <u>Landis</u> effectively changed the intentional injury exclusion into a broader intentional acts exclusion. We are uncertain whether this was the supreme court's intent.

Swindal, at 1317.

The panel's footnote following this discussion concluded with "[w]e recognize, however, that if the supreme court intended to permit insurance companies to exclude coverage on a different standard of causation, the trial court may have had authority to reach the result it reached" (Swindal at footnote 6, p. 1317).

The <u>Swindal</u> panel stated it had "considerable collective difficulty in discerning the correct outcome" of the case. It confessed that "we are not certain that our interpretation of <u>Landis v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 546 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1989), and <u>State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Marshall</u>, 554 So.2d 504 (Fla. 1989), is correct." The panel also stated it had "been unable to agree whether the 'inevitably flowed' test of foreseeability of injuries, if that is the test of <u>Landis</u>, is more or less restrictive than established concepts of substantial certainty and proximate causation." <u>Swindal</u>, at 1317.

<u>Swindal</u> concluded its opinion by certifying the following question as a matter of great public importance:

DOES THE "INTENTIONAL ACT" EXCLUSION IN A TYPICAL HOMEOWNERS INSURANCE POLICY EXCLUDE COVERAGE FOR INJURIES ARISING OUT OF AN INCIDENT INVOLVING AN INTENTIONAL TORT IF THE INJURIES "INEVITABLY FLOW" FROM THE INSURED'S INTENTIONAL ACT, BUT ARE "PROXIMATELY CAUSED" BY A NEGLIGENT ACT?

Prudential filed its petition for discretionary review with this Court, seeking jurisdiction based on certification and on conflict.

Prudential agrees with <u>Swindal</u> that the case does present an important question, because "this opinion could impact on standard language in virtually every homeowners policy in Florida." 599 So.2d at 1316. Prudential argues below that the certified question should be answered so as to hold there is no coverage under the facts of this case in which the insured chased down and shot a only to claim later that the qun discharged accidently. Prudential also believes the same result is reached under a more direct analysis of this Court's decisions and public policy considerations, without resort to sorting through the "inevitably flow", "proximately caused" concepts of "substantially certain."

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE INSURED'S ACT OF CHASING DOWN AND SHOOTING A PERSON
  IS COVERED UNDER A POLICY EXCLUDING EXPECTED OR INTENDED INJURY
  WHEN THE INSURED CLAIMS HE WAS ONLY TRYING TO FRIGHTEN HIS VICTIM?
- II. DOES THE "INTENTIONAL ACT" EXCLUSION IN A TYPICAL HOMEOWNERS INSURANCE POLICY EXCLUDE COVERAGE FOR INJURIES ARISING OUT OF AN INCIDENT INVOLVING AN INTENTIONAL TORT IF THE INJURIES "INEVITABLY FLOW" FROM THE INSURED'S INTENTIONAL ACT, BUT ARE "PROXIMATELY CAUSED" BY A NEGLIGENT ACT?
- III. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION?

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The series of calculated steps --undisputed facts-- leading up to the actual shooting confirm Castellano's own testimony that he intended to injure Swindal by at least assaulting him. As a matter of law, the injury which resulted was expected or intended.

Florida cases repeatedly recognize that there is no coverage for injuries expected or intended by the insured. This does not change simply because the insured (Castellano) may have been more successful than he now claims he planned to be in harming his victim (Swindal).

This Court's recent decisions in <u>Landis</u> and <u>Marshall</u> illustrate that public policy will not permit coverage for such aggressive behavior which results in an inevitable injury, even though it is not the precise injury the assailant later claims he envisioned.

<u>Landis</u> demonstrates that the insured's subjective belief does not control over the objective facts.

<u>Swindal's</u> attempted reliance on out-of-state cases is misplaced. While all of those cases involved accidental shootings, none of them involved the type of aggressive behavior found here. Out-of-state cases with more similar facts deny coverage.

Swindal's interjection of a negligent act which proximately causes a particular injury does not alter the lack of coverage for an injury that "inevitably flows" from the insured's intentional act.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE INSURED'S ACT OF CHASING DOWN AND SHOOTING A PERSON IS NOT COVERED UNDER A POLICY EXCLUDING EXPECTED OR INTENDED INJURY WHEN THE INSURED CLAIMS HE WAS ONLY TRYING TO FRIGHTEN HIS VICTIM.

A. THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN <u>LANDIS</u> AND <u>MARSHALL</u> PRECLUDE COVERAGE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

<u>Swindal</u> noted that in <u>Landis</u> this Court stated that "all intentional acts are properly excluded by the express language of the homeowners policy." 546 So.2d at 1053.<sup>3</sup>

The simplest argument for Prudential would be to seek a literal application of this language in <u>Landis</u> to Castellano's intentional acts of chasing down Swindal and thrusting his loaded gun in the car window. Those were clearly intentional acts. If

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the district court, Swindal argued that the policy language in some cases differed from that in the Prudential policy. Marshall has the same exclusion for expected or intended injuries as found in the Prudential policy. 554 So.2d 505. Landis uses "injury intentionally caused by an insured person." See the Third District opinion at 516 So.2d 306. While a slight grammatical variation, this is the legal equivalent. The Second District recognized this is a common exclusion found in "virtually every homeowners insurance policy in Florida."

Swindal also argued <u>Landis</u> does not apply because it is a child molestation case. However, "<u>Landis</u> did not limit its application to sexual molestation cases." <u>Allstate Insurance v. Cruse</u>, 734 F.Supp. 1574, 1580 (M.D. Fla. 1989). The Second District cited <u>Landis</u> in both appeals in this matter. 571 So.2d at 599.

those acts are not covered, then the resulting injury is not covered.

But the exclusion at issue in these policies does not exclude all intentional acts. It excludes expected or intended injuries. Prudential believes the quoted language from <u>Landis</u> was a shorthand way of expressing the view that some intentional acts are so certain to result in some sort of harm —or are so contrary to public policy— that there can be no insurance coverage for them under a policy which excludes expected or intended injuries.

Florida case law has historically permitted insurance coverage where an intentional act results in unexpected and unintended harm. In <u>Gulf Coast Insurance Company v. Nash</u>, 97 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1957), this Court held an insured's shooting of himself with a gun was covered under an ordinary life policy. The insured was pointing the gun at his chest and pulling the trigger, obviously an intentional act. 97 So.2d at 7. However, according to witnesses, when the gun discharged on the third time, the insured "immediately cried, 'My God, the gun was loaded. I am shot. Call a doctor.'" 97 So.2d at 7.

Thus, because the insured did not intend to shoot himself, he did not commit suicide and his death was covered under the life policy. In proceeding to discuss another accident policy the Court stated "the result was not intended." 97 So.2d at 7. Many of the district court cases discussed hereafter draw the same distinction between intentional acts and intended injuries. The injury from an

intentional act may or may not be covered. If an injury was intended, it is not covered.

In sum, not every intentional action an insured takes which results in an injury is excluded under these policies. An automobile driver who negligently collides with a pedestrian intended to drive the car, but there is still coverage. However, if the driver meant to run over the pedestrian's foot, but misjudged and hit him broadside, there should be no coverage because an injury was expected or intended. If the driver intended to frighten the pedestrian by driving close to him, misjudged and hit him, that is likewise an intended or expected injury (for which there is no coverage).

Landis held it defied logic to state that a child molester intended anything but harm to his victim, no matter what his proclaimed subjective intent. 546 So.2d at 1053. The Court quoted Judge Frank's dissent in Zordon v. Page, 500 So.2d 608 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986): "It is inherent in the logic of our system that 'some form

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Clemmons v. American States Insurance Company</u>, 412 So.2d 906 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), <u>review denied</u>, 419 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 1982), discusses a number of decisions drawing the distinction between intended acts and injuries. It reached a result on self defense approved by this Court in <u>Marshall</u>.

C.M. Life Insurance Company v. Ortega, 562 So.2d 702 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), review denied, 576 So.2d 289 (1991), distinguished its facts from those in Nash. In Ortega, the insured knew he had loaded one bullet into the gun and then proceeded to play Russian Roulette. The court held this knowledge the gun was loaded distinguished the case from Nash. It held "where the harm which befalls the insured is a reasonable and probable consequence of his volitional act, the harm cannot be deemed unintentional." 562 So.2d at 704.

of harm inheres in and inevitably flows from the proscribed behavior.'" 546 So.2d at 1053.

The panel opinion in <u>Swindal</u> appears to have fixed on the "inevitably flows" language, and admits difficulty with the concept. Prudential argues below that the certified question from <u>Swindal</u> should be answered in the affirmative. Namely, if the insured puts in motion through his intentional acts an event from which an injury will "inevitably flow," then there should be no coverage even if some negligent act proximately causes the precise injury. As the cases below indicate, it is not necessary for the insured to foresee the extent of the harm he will cause. If he intended any harm, there is no coverage.

Prudential believes there is a clear answer in the Court's decisions in <u>Landis</u> and <u>Marshall</u>. <u>Landis</u> held that Florida law will not sanction coverage for an insured who molests children, despite his professed lack of intent to harm them. Florida law will not condone that behavior, or protect and encourage the insured who does it by protecting him through insurance coverage.

Similarly, Florida law does not and should not encourage an insured person with a loaded gun to chase down and assault another person. Prudential need not and does not argue that every discharge of a gun which injures a person is excluded from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>See also</u>, <u>Clemmons</u> at p. 908 (observing death is intentional where insured did not intend death, but did intend to cause some injury). Castellano has admitted he intended a form of harm or injury to Swindal. Even without Castellano's admission, the conclusion would be inescapable in light of his calculated and persistent conduct in taking the loaded gun and chasing down Swindal.

coverage. Even those injured in a struggle over a gun may have insurance coverage depending on the circumstances.

But under the specific facts of this case, Florida law should not encourage an insured to retrieve a loaded gun, remove the safety, pursue another person by car, and thrust the loaded gun through the victim's car window. To permit coverage based on the insured's self serving assertion that there was then a "negligent discharge" of the gun ignores the fact that the insured's conduct was intended to result in some form of harm to his victim.

Focussing only on the split second the gun discharged --as <u>Swindal</u> did-- ignores Castellano's calculated actions --actions which could only be intended to harm Swindal. As in <u>Landis</u>, it defies logic to suggest Castellano did not intend some harm to Swindal. Indeed, Castellano admitted he intended some harm to Swindal -- through frightening him. And Castellano intentionally battered Swindal by grabbing the hammer.

Any harm that resulted after Castellano thrust the loaded gun, finger on the trigger, through the window is excluded, whether that harm is a gunshot hole in the car's upholstery, a bruise to Swindal, or a bullet striking Swindal.

In other words, Castellano had to expect some harm to Swindal as a matter of law. Just as the child molester in <u>Landis</u> had to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The tort of battery has long been recognized as including the harmful or offensive touching of objects on the plaintiff's person or in his hand. Prosser and Keeton, <u>The Law of Torts</u>, §9 (5th ed. 1984). Florida law has also recognized this principle for criminal battery. <u>See Malczewski v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), dismissed, 453 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1984).

intend some harm as a matter of law, despite his subjective belief. If this were not the law, an insured could murder children and seek insurance coverage on the ground that he believed that he was improving their lives by sending them to a better place.

Contrasting the facts of this case with <u>Marshall</u> magnifies the absurdity of permitting Castellano to obtain insurance coverage here. In <u>Marshall</u> this Court held that a homeowner who shot an intruder in self defense, while the intruder was in his house, had no coverage for this intended act.

Here Castellano did not shoot Swindal while Swindal was in Castellano's house. Swindal had not even been in the house, but merely nearby. Castellano pursued him and discharged the gun into his head after a car chase.

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