CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PRUDENTIAL PROPERTY AND CASUALTY COMPANY, Petitioner, vs. LARRY S. SWINDAL et al. Respondent

CASE NO. 80,217

By_

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

W.C. AIRTH, JR., ESQ. FLORIDA BAR #114111 WILLIAMS & AIRTH, P.A. P.O. Box 3444 28 W. Central Boulevard Orlando, FL 32802 (407) 425-1985 Attorney for Respondent

TABLE OF CO	N	IΤ	E	N	т	S	
-------------	---	----	---	---	---	---	--

. F

1

t S

•

<u>.</u>

÷

Pac	<u>ie</u>
TABLE OF CITATIONS ii	L i
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	2
ISSUES ON APPEAL	9
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	LO
ARGUMENT	12

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

There is no basis in fact for PRUDENTIAL's assertion that NICHOLAS CASTELLANO "had to expect some harm to LARRY SWINDAL as a matter of law." Initial Brief page 14. This incident cannot be truly compared to a sexual assault on a child. The child molester's intentional act of molestation "inevitably" results in harm to the child. There is simply no way to compare the molester's intentional act and NICHOLAS CASTELLANO's asserted

intent to frighten particularly where there is no proof the intent was carried out. NICHOLAS CASTELLANO states he had no intent to cause bodily harm and the pistol was not fired intentionally. (R-283) The disputed facts of intent/accident distinguish this case from any case involving child molestation.

This Court's decision in <u>MARSHALL</u> is not any support for PRUDENTIAL's claim that it would be absurd for NICHOLAS CASTELLANO to have coverage. The intentional act in <u>MARSHALL</u> was undisputed. The insured intentionally struck the intruder who suffered bodily injury.

B. OTHER DECISIONS OF FLORIDA'S DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DO NOT PRECLUDE COVERAGE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

PRUDENTIAL asserts that other District Court decision's support its position. There cases are all distinguishable as in each of them the intentional nature of the act is undisputed. Here it is disputed.

The <u>DRAFFEN</u> case involved an insured who admittedly and intentionally fired his gun at his pursuers and struck them. <u>DRAFFEN V. ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY</u>, 407 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Such an intentional act, if bodily injury was caused, clearly is within the exclusion. It is not simply the intentional discharge of the gun which is significant. The pointing of the gun toward the pursuers before firing it at the pursuers is equally critical to the holding in <u>DRAFFEN</u>.

The recent First District case of SPENGLER V. STATE FARM FIRE

<u>& CASUALTY CO.</u>, 568 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), review denied 577 So.2d 1328 (Fla.1991) is somewhat instructive. Ms. Spengler's roommate awoke to the sound of a bugler, he thought. When the figure of a person appeared, he aimed and shot the person. Alas, it was not a burglar but Ms. Spengler returning from a trip to the bathroom. Ms. Spengler made claim against State Farm.

The First District reversed a Summary Judgment entered against her and remanded for further proceedings. The Court reasoned that while the boyfriend intended the act of aiming and shooting the non-existent "bugler", he did <u>not</u> intend to shoot or injure Ms. Spengler. Therefore State Farm's exclusion, which is identical to Plaintiff's, did not apply and there was coverage. Liability was not precluded for an expected or intended act but rather for an expected or intended injury and that when the act is intentional but the injury is not, the exclusionary clause is not applicable. See <u>SALON V. STATE FARMS</u>, 488 So.2d 362 (La.App.), writ denied, 493 So.2d 630 (La. 1986)

This Court denied review of the <u>SPENGLER</u> decision and should do so in this case.

The case of <u>BOSSON V. UDERITZ</u>, 426 So.2d 1301 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) is also distinguishable. First, there was no dispute that the intentional act of grabbing the Plaintiff's purse resulted in her injury when she tried to stop the car and fell to the ground. Second, there was no decision by NICHOLAS CASTELLANO to go and deliberately commit an obvious criminal act. Initially NICHOLAS CASTELLANO may have intended to frighten LARRY SWINDAL but there is

no indication that he was actually aware that such an act, if actually done, may be a violation of the law concerning assault. Third, there is no proof that a criminal act of any nature actually occurred. Fourth, there are disputed facts regarding whether the gun was discharged accidentally or intentionally. <u>BOSSON</u> does not apply.

It is submitted that the <u>SWINDAL V. PRUDENTIAL</u> Court was incorrect in noting that it felt that at least an assault or an assault with a deadly weapon had occurred. The evidence is not clear as to whether either was shown. NICHOLAS CASTELLANO's earlier intent, as testified by him when he procured his pistol is not shown to have continued. There is no proof of any threatening display of the pistol, no proof the pistol was intentionally pointed at LARRY SWINDAL, no proof of any other threatening gestures or words. If this is considered a material issue then there is no proof to support the Court's conclusion. This would constitute another issue to be decided by a jury.

PRUDENTIAL asserts that <u>ETCHER V. BLITCH</u>, 381 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) supports its position that if NICHOLAS CASTELLANO intended only to frighten LARRY SWINDAL but "accidentally" shot him then the exclusion would still apply. <u>ETCHER</u>'s facts distinguish it from this case. <u>ETCHER</u> did not involve an issue regarding frightening a person by having a pistol. It involved Mr. Blitch intentionally pointing the pistol at Mr. Etcher, firing the pistol and shooting Mr. Etcher. Blitch tried to claim his intent was to shoot out the window and not shoot Mr. Etcher. Clearly, Blitch's

admitted intentional act of firing the gun was the cause of Mr. Etcher's injuries. Here, there was no intentional pointing of the pistol or firing of the pistol by NICHOLAS CASTELLANO. ETCHER is distinguishable.

An examination of ALLSTATE INSURANCE V. CRUSE, 734 F.Supp. 1574 (M.D. Fla. 1989), shows it is distinguishable on its facts. First the Allstate policy language is substantially different. It excluded "bodily injury which may reasonably be expected to result from the intentional or criminal acts of an insured person". Second, although Cruse said he only intended to scare the people, the facts were that to accomplish this intent, he loaded a high powered rifle, carefully aimed and shot several persons, some fatally. Cruse may have said he only intended to scare but his admitted intentional acts of carefully aiming and firing his weapon excluded coverage for the bodily injury which resulted. NICHOLAS CASTELLANO's conduct is far removed from the intentional shootings NICHOLAS CASTELLANO stated an earlier intent to by Mr. Cruse. frighten, it is true. But there is no showing that he maintained such an intent or had the intent when the pistol fired. NICHOLAS CASTELLANO has testified that the firing was accidental and he has said he had no intent to fire the pistol nor did he expect the pistol to fire. (R-283) So third, there is a factual dispute in the instant case that did not exist in the CRUSE case.

Contrary to PRUDENTIAL'S Brief, the Court in <u>SWINDAL V.</u> <u>PRUDENTIAL</u> has ruled there is a factual dispute to be resolved by a jury. The undisputed acts of NICHOLAS CASTELLANO do not give

rise to any ongoing rule of law that: "Whatever injury occurred after NICHOLAS CASTELLANO thrust the loaded gun through LARRY SWINDAL's car window is excluded". Initial Brief, page 21. Surely it cannot be seriously argued that once some one intends an act, the intent can never be abandoned, changed or not followed through. fired the pistol is disputed that NICHOLAS CASTELLANO It intentionally. His Affidavit (R-283) specifically states that he had no intention of firing the pistol and the firing was It is not PRUDENTIAL's duty to determine which unintentional. facts and inferences to believe and which to discard nor is it this The lower court should be affirmed, the Court should Court's. decline to answer the question and this matter returned to the trial Court for trial.

C. THE OUT-OF-STATE CASES DO NOT CONFIRM THAT THE

SHOOTING HERE SHOULD NOT BE COVERED.

The discussion of the several out-of-state cases, while interesting, is not particularly helpful or on point in the instant case. Several will be commented on but by and large they are similar to Florida cases and none were decided where there were disputed facts to be resolved.

The Louisiana case of <u>TOBIN V. WILLIAMS</u>, 396 So.2d 562 (La. App. 1981) seems to have some similarity particularly with the statement of the insured that "I only meant to scare him". However, the significant proof was that the insured intentionally pointed the gun at the Plaintiff, did not remember pulling the trigger and stated he had no intention of shooting the Plaintiff.

Not remembering pulling the trigger does not create any issue where it is undisputed that the trigger, in fact, was pulled. The case seems closer to the <u>ETCHER</u> case. In both cases the gun was intentionally fired while pointed at the Plaintiff. The firing was intentional and it follows that the injury was intentional. Here, there is a dispute as to whether the pistol was fired accidentally or intentionally.

Again, in <u>STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY CO. V. KING</u>, 851 F.2d 1369 (11th Cir. 1988), the gun was intentionally discharged. This is still an issue in the instant case.

The undisputed facts in the Wisconsin Case, <u>RABY V. MOE</u>, 450 N.W. 2d 452 (1990), show that Moe was the get away driver during an armed robbery of a store. The case is clearly distinguishable on the facts. Moe's admitted intentional act of participating in the armed robbery was found to be enough to show that insurance coverage would not be provided. Here, the "intentional" act is denied creating an unresolved issue.

This Court must not forget that exlusionary provisions are strictly construed against the insurer and in favor of providing coverage in order that the purpose of insurance is not defeated. <u>GEORGE V. STONE</u>, 260 So.2d 259 (Fla 4th DCA 1992) The subject policy does not have an exclusion for all damages that directly or indirectly arise from intentional, aggressive conduct. It only excludes coverage for "bodily injury expected or intended by the insured". <u>SWINDAL V. PRUDENTIAL</u>, at page 1317. There continues to be disputed issues of fact and inference.

This Court should affirm the lower Court, refuse to answer the question and return the case to the trial court for trial.

. .

*,**

II. DOES THE "INTENTIONAL ACT" EXCLUSION IN A TYPICAL HOMEOWNERS INSURANCE POLICY EXCLUDE COVERAGE FOR INJURIES ARISING OUT OF AN INCIDENT INVOLVING AN INTENTIONAL TORT IF THE INJURIES "INEVITABLY FLOW" FROM THE INSURED'S INTENTIONAL ACT, BUT ARE "PROXIMATELY CAUSED" BY A NEGLIGENT ACT.

As noted above, LARRY SWINDAL submits that this Court should refuse to answer the certified question.

As phrased, the question should be answered NO. The issue here is not nearly as complex as this certified question indicates. Simply put, there are disputed issues of fact and inferences raised in this case which required the reversal of the trial court's Summary Judgment. While the Court in <u>SWINDAL V. PRUDENTIAL</u> did make other comments, the ruling was that there was a disputed issue of fact whether NICHOLAS CASTELLANO expected or intended to cause bodily injury to LARRY SWINDAL and a disputed question of fact whether NICHOLAS CASTELLANO fired the gun intentionally or by accident. <u>SWINDAL V. PRUDENTIAL</u>, at page 1315.

The certified question is not framed to resolve the disputed issues of fact found by the lower court to exist.

The question includes the statement that the incident involved an intentional tort. There is no proof that NICHOLAS CASTELLANO ever threatened or tried to frighten LARRY SWINDAL in his presence. It is not an intentional tort to make threats or to intend to frighten someone if you are not in that persons presence when you make the threats etc. see 714.011 and 714.021, Florida Statutes (1989) What is the "intentional tort" contained in the question? How can the question be answered when all of the terms therein are

undefined?

The question next states the injuries "inevitably flowed" from the insured's intentional act. Again, what intentional act of the insured caused the injures? This is not stated. There were many intentional acts done but it is submitted that no known intentional act was the cause of any injury to LARRY SWINDAL.

If the "intentional act" is assumed to be the carrying of the pistol and holding on to the pistol when NICHOLAS CASTELLANO reached into LARRY SWINDAL's car to grab the gun/hammer, what expected or intended injury occurred? If it is the bullet wound, how can it be said that such an injury inevitably flows from reaching into a car with a pistol and holding on to a gun/hammer? There is no conclusive proof of any nature that doing those acts leads inevitably to an injury. There is no proof that the shooting was intentional or expected. This Court has held that molesting a child inevitably leads to injury by the very nature of child This is not contradicted here. It is molestation. LANDIS. asserted though that there is no proof or showing that there were any acts in the instant case from which injuries "inevitably flow". How can this be a part of the certified question without at least identifying the intentional act from which injuries inevitably flow?

The question is phrased in such a manner that it cannot be answered without more information or should not be answered at all.

The exclusion does not exclude coverage for injuries which are caused by negligence acts. It excludes only those bodily injuries

which are expected or intended by the insured. The "inevitably flow" language was used in <u>LANDIS</u> which was a child molestation case. The Court ruled that the intentioned act of molestation necessarily includes the intentional causing of bodily injury as the bodily injury "inevitably flows" from the intentional molestation. There is no intentional act in the instant case from which bodily injury will inevitably flow.

PRUDENTIAL argues that the intentional acts which end with the pistol being thrust in LARRY SWINDAL's car establish that bodily injury to LARRY SWINDAL was inevitable. This is not supported by logic or common sense. It was not inevitable that the pistol would discharge and injure LARRY SWINDAL or that any other injury would in fact occur. Where is PRUDENTIAL's basis for blandly stating that the precise type of harm may differ but some harm would inevitably flow. PRUDENTIAL has no basis for the statement in law, logic or common sense. The acts of NICHOLAS CASTELLANO are not synonymous with the acts of a child molester!

The assertions on page 29 of the Initial Brief are illogical and not founded in fact or law. If an injury is covered by a negligent act, of course there should be coverage.

The child molester who "negligently" strangles his victim does not thereby gain coverage and it is nonsensical to suggest they would.

No one is asserting that this Court should accept the "selfserving assertions of a negligent act" to create coverage. LARRY SWINDAL is urging that such assertions are evidence and the

acceptance or rejection of this evidence is the duty of a jury.

Again, an argument is made regarding the asserted threatening of LARRY SWINDAL by NICHOLAS CASTELLANO. <u>There is no proof this</u> <u>ever occurred</u>.

There is evidence that this was an earlier intent. There is however, no proof that the pistol was pointed at LARRY SWINDAL or that gestures were made with the pistol or threatening words were used. It is submitted that passively carrying a pistol in your hand, which is admitted, does not constitute an assault or a threat.

This case should not be before this Court. Some facts are still in dispute particularly whether the shooting was intentional or accidental. Until these facts are determined, it is premature to attempt to rule in any substantive way.

Therefore, it is asserted that the District Court should be affirmed, the Court should refuse to answer the certified question and this cause should be remanded to the trial Court for trial.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT JURISDICTION.

. .

It is accepted that most homeowners policies in Florida contain an "expected or intentional" exclusion. However this case is not a proper case for this Court to accept as there are disputed issues of facts and disputed inferences arising from those facts. See <u>SWINDAL</u> at page 1315.

It clearly is not the function of the Second District Court of Appeal or of this Court to determine such factual disputes.

None of the cases relied upon by Prudential involved disputed issues of fact or inference. Each of those cases were distinguished on that basis or other bases in the body of this Answer Brief.

As this Court did in the <u>SPENGLER</u> case, review hereof should be denied which will allow this case to be returned for trial by jury.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Court should either Affirm the decision of the Second District Court of Appeals or deny review, either of which will allow this case to be returned to Polk County Circuit Court for trial by jury.